
Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 1 of 19 
 
  
 

CITY OF TAVARES 1 
MINUTES OF REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 2 

AUGUST 20, 2014 3 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 4 

4:00 p.m. 5 
 6 

COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT     ABSENT 7 
 8 
Robert Wolfe, Mayor       9 
Lori Pfister, Vice Mayor          10 
Norman Hope, Councilmember 11 
Kirby Smith, Councilmember 12 
Robert Speaks, Councilmember 13 
 14 
STAFF PRESENT 15 
 16 
John Drury, City Administrator 17 
Robert Q. Williams, City Attorney 18 
Nancy Barnett, City Clerk 19 
Bill Neron, Economic Development Director 20 
Brad Hayes, Utility Director 21 
Lori Houghton, Finance Director 22 
Chris Thompson, Public Works Director 23 
Joyce Ross, Communications Director 24 
Lori Tucker, Human Resources Director 25 
Tammey Rogers, Community Services Director 26 
Richard Keith, Fire Department 27 
 28 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 29 
 30 
Mayor Wolfe called the meeting to order at 4:06 p.m.  31 
 32 
II. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 33 
 34 
Fire Chief Richard Keith gave the invocation and those present recited the pledge of allegiance. 35 
 36 
lll. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 37 
 38 
Mayor Wolfe advised those present on the procedure for addressing City Council. 39 
 40 
Mayor Wolfe asked for approval of the agenda. 41 
 42 
MOTION 43 
 44 
Kirby Smith moved to approve the agenda, seconded by Robert Speaks. The motion 45 
carried unanimously 5-0. 46 
 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 2 of 19 
 
  
 
lV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES   1 
 2 
Tab 1) Approval of City Council Meeting Minutes – July 16, 2014; July 30, 2014; and August 3 
6, 2014  4 
 5 
MOTION 6 
 7 
Kirby Smith moved for approval of the minutes of July 16, July 30, and August 6, 2014 with 8 
the following corrections: 9 
 10 
July 30, 2014 City Council Budget Workshop Minutes:  11 
 12 
Page 1, Line 10 – Change Kirby Smith, “Vice Mayor” to “Councilmember” and show as 13 
absent 14 
Page 1, Line 11, Delete “Bob Grenier, Councilmember” 15 
Page 1, Show “Robert Speaks, Councilmember” as Absent 16 
  17 
The motion was seconded by Robert Speaks. The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 18 
 19 
V. PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS 20 
 21 
Vl. SWEARING IN BY CITY ATTORNEY AND DISCLOSURE OF EX PARTE CONTACTS 22 
 23 
Attorney Williams advised that Tabs 2, 3, 4, and 5 were land matters and quasi-judicial. He asked 24 
those who wished to speak to stand and be sworn in. He asked Council if they wished to declare 25 
any ex parte communications. There were none. 26 
 27 
Vll. READING OF ALL ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS 28 
 29 
Ms. Barnett read the following ordinances/resolutions by title only: 30 

 31 
ORDINANCE 2014-08 32 

 33 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAVARES, FLORIDA, AMENDING ORDINANCE 34 
2006-09, LAKEVIEW CENTER/BAKERS GROVES PLANNED DEVELOPMENT,  BY 35 
AMENDING THE CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN BY CHANGING THE WESTERLY END 36 
OF THE RESIDENTIAL SECTION TO COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT; SUBJECT 37 
TO THE RULES, REGULATIONS AND OBLIGATIONS ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF 38 
TAVARES COUNCIL; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  39 

 40 
ORDINANCE 2014-09 41 

 42 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAVARES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 43 
TAVARES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP 2020, 44 
PROVIDING FOR A CHANGE OF FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION ON 45 
APPROXIMATELY 1 ACRE OF PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON THE 46 
SOUTHWEST BEND OF NIGHTINGALE LANE; FROM MEDIUM DENSITY 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 3 of 19 
 
  
 

RESIDENTIALTO COMMERCIAL; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND 1 
CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 2 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 3 

 4 
ORDINANCE 2014-10 5 

 6 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAVARES, FLORIDA, REZONING 7 
APPROXIMATELY 1.73 ACRES OF PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON THE 8 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF U.S. 441 AND CLASSIQUE LANE FROM C-2 9 
(HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL) TO RMF-3 (RESIDENTIAL MULTI-FAMILY); SUBJECT 10 
TO THE RULES, REGULATIONS AND OBLIGATIONS ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF 11 
TAVARES COUNCIL; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 12 

 13 
ORDINANCE 2014-11 14 

 15 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAVARES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 16 
TAVARES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP 2020, 17 
PROVIDING FOR A CHANGE OF FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION ON 18 
APPROXIMATELY 1.73 ACRES OF PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON 19 
THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF U.S. 441 AND CLASSIQUE LANE; FROM 20 
COMMERCIAL TO HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL; PROVIDING FOR 21 
SEVERABILITY AND CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL; AND 22 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 23 

 24 
ORDINANCE 2014-12 25 

 26 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAVARES, FLORIDA AMENDING THE 27 
LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS BY AMENDING CHAPTER 3, 28 
DEFINING "MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARY"; AMENDING CHAPTER 8, 29 
TABLE 8-2, PERMITTED AND SPECIAL USES, BY ALLOWING MEDICAL 30 
MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES IN A C-2 (HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL)  DISTRICT; 31 
PROVIDING THAT THE OPENING OF A MARIJUANA DISPENSARY/MEDICAL 32 
MARIJUANA TREATMENT CENTER AND THE SELLING OF MARIJUANA 33 
PRODUCTS AS DEFINED BY THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION  OR FLORIDA 34 
LAW SHALL OCCUR ONLY UPON AND AFTER THE OFFICIAL DATE IN 35 
WHICH THE SALE AND DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA HAS BEEN DEEMED 36 
LEGAL BY THE STATE OF FLORIDA; SUBJECT TO THE RULES, 37 
REGULATIONS AND OBLIGATIONS ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF TAVARES 38 
COUNCIL; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 39 

 40 
RESOLUTION 2014-16 41 

 42 
A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TAVARES, 43 
FLORIDA, TO VACATE A PORTION OF THE SOUTH WESTERLY CUL-DE-44 
SAC OF NIGHTINGALE LANE, A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, SUBJECT TO THE 45 
RULES AND REGULATIONS ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF TAVARES 46 
COUNCIL; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 4 of 19 
 
  
 

 1 
RESOLUTION 2014-21 2 

 3 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 4 
TAVARES, FLORIDA, EXPRESSING THAT THE CITY OF TAVARES 5 
DESIRES TO PARTICIPATE IN NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE TOWN OF 6 
ASTATULA AND LAKE COUNTY TOWARDS THE ENTERING OF AN 7 
INTERLOCAL SERVICE BOUNDARY AGREEMENT UNDER CHAPTER 8 
171.203, FLORIDA STATUTES; SUBJECT TO THE RULES, REGULATIONS 9 
AND OBLIGATIONS ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF TAVARES COUNCIL; 10 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 11 

 12 
RESOLUTION 2014 – 22 13 

 14 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 15 
FINANCING AGREEMENT, AND RELATED INSTRUCTIONS, AND 16 
DETERMINING OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. 17 

 18 
 19 

Vlll. CONSENT AGENDA 20 

lX. ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS 21 
 22 
Tab 2) Ordinance #2014-08 – Amendment to Lakeview Center Planned Conceptual Site 23 
Plan by Changing Westerly End of Residential Section to Commercial Development – 24 
Second Reading 25 
 26 
Mr. Skutt stated this ordinance, and the next ordinance on the agenda and the resolution for the 27 
partial vacate of Nightingale Lane, all pertain to the same project. The conceptual plan depicts the 28 
southerly tract along Lake Francis as residential development. Osprey Lodge has been 29 
constructed and is operating on this property. At the extreme west end of this property is an 30 
unfinished building that was intended to be used as a clubhouse for a previous but undeveloped 31 
condominium project. The owners wish to sell this building to a purchaser who wishes to 32 
complete the building for use as a medical office. In order to be used for Commercial, it is 33 
required that the conceptual site plan of the governing planned development ordinance and the 34 
Future Land Use Map designation be changed to Commercial. Mr. Skutt noted that the proposed 35 
amendment and accompanying Small Scale Future Land use amendment and proposed road 36 
vacate will facilitate a medical office use which is most appropriate for this location. The Planning 37 
& Zoning Board voted unanimously to recommend approval on July 17, 2014 and staff 38 
recommends approval. 39 
 40 
Councilmember Smith asked whether there were any issues with change of the road design 41 
(covered under the upcoming resolution). Mr. Skutt said there was not a requirement for a cul de 42 
sac.  43 
 44 
MOTION 45 
 46 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 5 of 19 
 
  
 
Kirby Smith moved to approve Ordinance #2014-08, seconded by Lori Pfister. The motion 1 
carried unanimously 5-0. 2 
 3 
Tab 3) Ordinance #2014-09 – Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment for Lakeview 4 
Center/Bakers Grove Clubhouse Property on Nightingale Lane 5 
 6 
Mr. Skutt said this is the accompanying ordinance that changes the Future Land Use Map 7 
designation of this property from medium density residential to commercial. The Planning & 8 
Zoning Board voted unanimously to recommend approval and staff recommends approval. 9 
 10 
Mayor Wolfe recognized Travis Sawchuk who declined to speak. 11 
 12 
MOTION 13 
 14 
Norman Hope moved to approve Ordinance #2014-09, seconded by Robert Speaks. The 15 
motion carried unanimously 5-0. 16 
 17 
Tab 4) Ordinance #2014-10 – 15000 US Hwy 441 – Rezoning of Regency Inn (Previously 18 
Comfort Inn) 19 
 20 
Mr. Skutt stated this is a rezoning application of property located at the southwest corner of US 21 
441 and Classique Lane from Highway Commercial to Residential Multi-Family 3. The owner 22 
(Hospitality Group) wishes to convert the existing hotel on this property to an assisted living 23 
facility. ACLF’s are not permitted in a C-2 zoning but are allowed in an RMF-3 zoning. This 24 
property is located across the road from Waterman Hospital and is adjacent to the city’s medical 25 
village. The engineers have provided ITE traffic calculations that show that the proposed ACLF 26 
should generate less than one third of the trips that a hotel generates. The Planning & Zoning 27 
Board recommended approval on July 17th and staff recommends approval. 28 
 29 
Councilmember Smith asked if it would be more beneficial to do a variance rather than changing 30 
the zoning. Mr. Skutt said a variance cannot be done to allow a use that is not permitted under 31 
this zoning. 32 
 33 
Mayor Wolfe invited Travis Sawchuk to speak. 34 
 35 
Travis Sawchuk, representing Citrus Rail Plaza, (adjacent business to the Regency), 36 
 37 
Mr. Sawchuk said they are not in complete agreement with the project but want to support it. Mr. 38 
Sawchuk discussed his concern with traffic flows, the private road owned by Massey that gives 39 
the adjacent business owners access and the condition of the road. He said he had requested 40 
that a second front entrance at the motel property be provided as a second entrance. Mr. 41 
Sawchuk asked that the City assist with facilitating a meeting with the owner and in exploring 42 
options. 43 
  44 
Discussion followed on access from David Walker Road. Mr. Drury noted that the city does not 45 
generally take over roads that are under designed or needing repair. If the owner petitioned the 46 
city and the road was brought up to standard, staff would come to Council and report that it had 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 6 of 19 
 
  
 
met city standards and give Council the option to take over the road. In this case no request has 1 
been made. 2 
 3 
Attorney Williams noted the city does not control access onto US 441 and that Mr. Drury is 4 
correct about Classique Lane as it is a private road. Originally it was built just to service the 5 
bowling alley and then the businesses grew up around it. He said Classique will need to be 6 
improved and to pay for that an assessment could be done. Mr. Drury said the owner could also 7 
work with the owners who have an easement and collectively pay for the upgrade. 8 
 9 
Mr. Drury said he would be willing to reach out to the owner of the road and putting a meeting 10 
together to see if there is interest in the private owner wanting to bring the road to city standards 11 
and then asking City Council if they wish to take over the road. He said he did not agree to 12 
holding up the project on this issue, particularly since the engineer says that the traffic counts for 13 
the new use are less than the traffic counts for a hotel. He asked Chief Keith if the fire engine has 14 
access to the bowling lane property; Chief Keith affirmed. 15 
 16 
Councilmember Hope asked Mr. Hiott from BESH if he was satisfied as an engineer that the 17 
traffic would be less going to an ALF than a hotel. Mr. Hiott answered in the affirmative. 18 
 19 
MOTION 20 
 21 
Kirby Smith moved to approve Ordinance #2014-10, seconded by Robert Speaks. 22 
 23 
Mayor Wolfe asked Council if they wished Mr. Drury to meet with the owner of the road and 24 
facilitate a meeting. Councilmember Smith said he believed that would be up to the owner to 25 
contact Mr. Drury. 26 
 27 
The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 28 
 29 
Tab 5) Ordinance #2014-11 – Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment – Regency Inn – 30 
15000 US 441 – Second Reading 31 
 32 
Mr. Skutt advised this was the accompanying Future Land Use ordinance that changes the 33 
designation from commercial to high density residential. The Planning & Zoning Board voted 34 
unanimously to recommend approval and staff recommends approval. 35 
 36 
MOTION 37 
 38 
Kirby Smith moved to approve Ordinance #2014-11, seconded by Norman Hope. The 39 
motion carried unanimously 5-0. 40 
 41 
Tab 6) Ordinance #2014-12 – Medical Marijuana Dispensaries – Second Reading 42 
 43 
Mr. Skutt said this ordinance is an amendment to the Land Development Regulations. The 44 
ordinance contains a provision that this use would only be permitted if approved by Florida Law. 45 
City Council gave direction to staff on June 18th regarding location if this use is permitted. The 46 
ordinance has been drafted adding a definition for medical marijuana dispensaries and has been 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 7 of 19 
 
  
 
added to the permitted land use chart as an allowed use in the C-2 highway commercial zone. 1 
This zone is located exclusively along US 441 and SR 19. The Planning & Zoning Board voted 4-2 
1 to recommend approval and staff recommends approval. 3 
 4 
Mayor Wolfe recognized Richard Bolin and Miguel Valdez who declined to speak. 5 
 6 
Vice Mayor Pfister said she had requested this ordinance because she believed it would be 7 
important for the city to have zoning in place if the referendum is passed. Councilmember Smith 8 
said he agreed and showed the city will be proactive. 9 
 10 
Councilmember Hope said an ancillary issue had come up at the League of Cities conference, 11 
(which some of the cities are addressing ahead of time): who is going to be allowed to grow 12 
marijuana and where that use would be allowed. He said such an operation would need to be an 13 
enclosed for security. Mr. Drury said if the location for growing marijuana changes it would be 14 
appropriate for staff to bring back a recommended companion ordinance. 15 
 16 
MOTION 17 
 18 
Lori Pfister moved to approve Ordinance #2014-12, seconded by Kirby Smith.  19 
 20 
Mayor Wolfe recognized Miguel Valdez who indicated he now wished to speak. 21 
 22 
Mr. Valdez stated he represented United for Care, the PAC working to pass Amendment Two. Mr. 23 
Valdez said the amendment does not allow an individual to cultivate medical marijuana for 24 
themselves as a patient. He made suggestions regarding the location of the business and 25 
distance from schools (i.e. the 1000 ft. rule in Colorado), stipulation of professional level kitchens, 26 
and support for state legislation to create a state financial cooperative to reduce the need for a 27 
“cash only” business. 28 
  29 
The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 30 
 31 
Vice Mayor Pfister thanked Mr. Skutt for his research and development of the ordinance. 32 
 33 
Tab 7) Resolution #2014-16 – Partial Vacate of Nightingale Lane 34 
 35 
Mr. Skutt said this vacate is associated with the rezoning and future land use change approved 36 
earlier [Tabs 3 and 4]. He said the right of way under consideration for vacation is needed for 37 
required parking for the proposed medical office. The Planning & Zoning Board recommended 38 
approval and staff recommends approval. 39 
 40 
MOTION 41 
 42 
Kirby Smith moved to approve Resolution #2014-16, seconded by Norman Hope. The 43 
motion carried unanimously 5-0. 44 
 45 
Tab 8) Resolution #2014-21 – Interlocal Service Boundary Agreement between the Town of 46 
Astatula and Lake County 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 8 of 19 
 
  
 
 1 
Mr. Skutt said the Town of Astatula has given notice to the City of Tavares that they are pursuing 2 
this agreement with Lake County. Their proposed boundary overlaps the southern boundary of 3 
the City of Tavares’ proposed ISBA. Florida Statutes requires municipalities who wish to 4 
participate in negotiations to pass an official responding resolution. Staff recommends approval. 5 
 6 
Mr. Drury said this will authorize staff to negotiate the overlap with Astatula. 7 
 8 
MOTION 9 
 10 
Robert Speaks moved for the approval of Resolution #2014-21, seconded by Norman 11 
Hope. The motion carried unanimously 5-0.  12 
 13 
Tab 9) Authorization to Execute the financing Agreement for the Purchase of the Boom 14 
Mower 15 
 16 
Ms. Houghton said the request to purchase the boom mower was presented at the previous 17 
meeting. This resolution will provide staff and the mayor the authority to enter into a lease 18 
purchase agreement with BB&T at an interest rate of 1.67% for the purchase price of $154,880. 19 
 20 
MOTION 21 
 22 
Kirby Smith moved to approve Resolution #2014-22, seconded by Robert Speaks. The 23 
motion carried unanimously 5-0. 24 
 25 
X. GENERAL GOVERNMENT 26 
 27 
Tab 10) Award of Bid for Ingraham Restrooms 28 
 29 
Ms. Rogers said the RFP had gone out in June. Two responses were received from Signature 30 
Enterprises and Evergreen Construction. The bids came in substantially higher than anticipated. 31 
Staff negotiated with the low bidder in order to remove two components that the staff could 32 
perform in house (sewer connection and landscaping). After those items were removed it brought 33 
the low bid in line with the budget. This is a federally funded project for which staff had budgeted 34 
some additional funds. She noted the engineer Mr. Patel was present to answer questions. 35 
 36 
Mayor Wolfe commented that only two firms submitted bids and he wished there had been more 37 
local bids. He noted there is more paperwork with a government grant. 38 
 39 
Councilmember Smith asked about the fiscal impact. Ms. Rogers the total budget is $100,000. 40 
The construction cost is $77,587. The engineering costs are $17,670 which was approved 41 
previously by Council. The balance is approximately $4,000 which will be transferred to the Water 42 
Department for their in kind costs. Councilmember Smith stated he would have liked to see that 43 
information clarified in the agenda summary. Vice Mayor Pfister questioned the $100,000 being 44 
spent on the restrooms. Mr. Patel said it is the same design as has been built at the other parks. 45 
The costs include the water and sewer, striping, and some other additional features. 46 
 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 9 of 19 
 
  
 
Councilmember Hope spoke in support of the project noting the city had promised the restrooms 1 
would be built a year ago to the surrounding neighborhood. Mr. Drury suggested the time period 2 
for completion should be estimated at sixty days. 3 
 4 
MOTION 5 
 6 
Norman Hope moved to approve the recommended low bidder [Signature Enterprises], 7 
seconded by Lori Pfister. The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 8 
 9 
Tab 11) Discussion of Golf Cart Rules and Regulations related to having a Drivers License 10 
 11 
Mayor Wolfe said he believed that over the last two years since the ordinance has been 12 
implemented, for the most part it seems to have gone well; however he has recently seen too 13 
many young children driving golf carts throughout Tavares. He said before it gets worse he 14 
wished to recommend that those who are 16 and over who have a drivers license be allowed to 15 
drive a golf cart.  Councilmember Speaks said he agreed as he has observed children under 16 16 
driving golf carts and people golf carts driving recklessly Councilmember Hope said he concurred 17 
with the requirement for a driver’s license. He noted his concern about drivers crossing US 441 if 18 
it becomes legal to do so. He said he would rather be proactive on this situation. 19 
 20 
Vice Mayor Pfister said she disagreed with requiring a driver’s license. She said the State of 21 
Florida allows people to drive a golf cart on a road that is 35 mph or less who do not have a 22 
driver's license. She said she would support 16 with a driver’s license or at least 18 without a 23 
license. She said she is concerned about older residents who not have a driver’s license. She 24 
suggested other options. She asked Chief Lubins how many accidents or fatalities have occurred. 25 
Chief Lubins said there have been no fatalities and not many accidents. Councilmember Smith 26 
spoke in support of not having a driver’s license requirement. 27 
 28 
MOTION 29 
 30 
Norman Hope moved to modify the ordinance to require a drivers’ license for any person 31 
operating a golf cart in the City of Tavares, seconded by Robert Speaks. The motion 32 
carried 3-2 as follows: 33 
 34 
Robert Wolfe    Yes 35 
Lori Pfister    No 36 
Robert Speaks   Yes 37 
Norman Hope   Yes 38 
Kirby Smith    No 39 
 40 
Attorney Williams noted this will require two readings of an ordinance before this would become 41 
effective. 42 
 43 
Tab 12) Discussion of Ordinance on Sale & Consumption of Alcoholic Beverages – Sale of 44 
Food Requirement 45 
 46 
Mayor Wolfe read the following agenda summary:  47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 10 of 19 
 
  
 
 1 
Prior to 2009, within Tavares, the on-site sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages was only 2 
allowed in conjunction with a restaurant that derived at least 50% of its gross revenue from the 3 
sale of food. 4 
 5 
In 2009, the City created its Downtown Waterfront Entertainment District. This District included 6 
much of our Commercial Downtown. Within this District, the City relaxed its "on premise" 7 
regulations allowing individuals to possess one opened plastic container of alcohol beverage on 8 
the streets, sidewalks, parks and squares within the District. 9 
 10 
In 2012, the City amended its Land Development Regulations by allowing "stand alone" beer and 11 
wine bars within the Commercial Downtown (No food sales required). This resulted in a new 12 
establishment in the down town called Boleros Wine Bar located off Ruby Street.  13 
 14 
At present, "stand alone" bars that serve liquor (“Martini Bars” or “Bars”) are not allowed within 15 
the City of Tavares. 16 
 17 
The City of Mt. Dora allows bars in their Highway Commercial District. The City of Leesburg 18 
allows bars in their Highway Commercial District and in other commercial zonings as a 19 
conditional use. The City of Eustis allows bars in Commercial areas subject to maintaining 20 
distances from schools, churches and other bars. The County allows bars in all commercial 21 
zonings.  22 
 23 
Mayor Wolfe said he believed the ordinance was antiquated and could have a negative economic 24 
impact. 25 
 26 
MOTION 27 
 28 
Kirby Smith moved to approve having the staff bring back an ordinance, seconded by 29 
Robert Speaks. 30 
 31 
Councilmember Hope said he believed there are sufficient establishments that sell alcohol and 32 
have a requirement for food and he did not see a reason to change the ordinance. However, he 33 
said he had spoken to the Police Chief who did not think it would cause a problem in Tavares. 34 
 35 
The motion carried 4-1 as follows: 36 
 37 
Robert Wolfe    Yes 38 
Lori Pfister    Yes 39 
Robert speak    Yes 40 
Norman Hope   No 41 
Kirby Smith    Yes 42 
 43 
Mayor Wolfe stated that the direction is for the City Attorney to prepare an ordinance to bring 44 
back for first and second readings. 45 
 46 
Tab #12) Discuss Impact of Mobile Food Vendors Ordinance 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 11 of 19 
 
  
 
 1 
Mayor Wolfe read the following summary: 2 
 3 
In 2008, City Council approved amendments to our Code of Ordinances that allowed the licensing 4 
of mobile food vendors in our commercial downtown. The regulations governing these were 5 
refined by two further amendments that year. Our code now allows these vendors to operate on 6 
our public downtown sidewalks provided that they comply with all applicable health regulations, 7 
hold indemnification and liability insurance, obtain a city license and comply with operational rules 8 
governing timing, space, equipment and noise generation specified in our code of ordinances. 9 
 10 
The permitting of mobile food vendors coincided with the timing of the approval of our Downtown 11 
Master Plan that encouraged the formulation of strategies that would promote the development of 12 
new restaurants and create a more urbanized downtown core with increased pedestrian traffic. It 13 
was felt that the mobile vendors would help to increase downtown activity and that some of these 14 
vendors would prosper, grow and transition into actual restaurant owners.  15 
 16 
The City's downtown has experienced significant economic growth over the last five years and a 17 
number of restaurants have opened. Several of these restaurant owners have submitted a letter 18 
to City Council asking that the permitting of mobile food vendors be reconsidered. It is the opinion 19 
of these owners that the mobile vendors are competing with their food establishments.     20 
 21 
Mayor Wolfe noted the mobile food vendor ordinance had been passed when the City was trying 22 
to encourage people to come downtown to Tavares when there were few restaurants. Over the 23 
last five years more restaurants have opened up and they have a large investment in the 24 
community in paying taxes, fire assessment, etc. He said, except for the main events such as 25 
Light Up Tavares, he believed it was time to reconsider the mobile food vendor license. He said 26 
there are several people who want to speak. 27 
 28 
Councilmember Speaks asked how many vendors there are in the downtown. Mayor Wolfe said 29 
there are one or two. Councilmember Smith asked if the food vendor clientele are the same as 30 
would go into the restaurants. He asked if the intention was to change the ordinance just for the 31 
Entertainment District. 32 
 33 
Patricia Berrios – The Hot Dawg Express 34 
 35 
Ms. Berrios said she represents the Hot Dawg Express and lives in Clermont. She said she has 36 
50 people who have signed a paper saying they like to have her in the park. She said her location 37 
is convenient for the people using the park and she did not think her business was impacting the 38 
restaurants. She said she refers her clients to the nearby restaurants and ice cream store. 39 
 40 
Andrew O’Keefe – O’Keefe’s Irish Pub 41 
 42 
Mr. O’Keefe said he believed there was a need for the ordinance when it got passed as there 43 
were only two restaurants downtown at the time. He said since that time there have been 15 44 
restaurants that have opened. He mentioned the restaurants who have tried to open and left, and 45 
said the city needs to support the businesses that have come downtown. 46 
 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 12 of 19 
 
  
 
Ryan Veraghen – Ruby Street Grille 1 
 2 
Mr. Veraghen spoke in support of changing the ordinance. He said the Ruby Street Grille serves 3 
hot dogs in the restaurant. He said they are also in need of the revenue especially because of the 4 
slow times. Councilmember Smith asked about the impact from the mobile vendor. Mr. Veraghen 5 
said he had seen an ice cream truck in the city as well and the current vendor in the park has 6 
impacted his business. 7 
 8 
Buddy Atkins – 214 & 216 E. Main Street 9 
 10 
Mr. Atkins said he has owned his building for 20 years. He said he had agreed with the ordinance 11 
at the time however it has accomplished what it needed to. He said he has called the Police 12 
Department three times in the last month about unlicensed vendors and the vendor is impacting 13 
his ice cream business. 14 
 15 
Patricia Berrios 16 
 17 
Ms. Berriors said the city only has six locations zoned for food vendors; five of them are on the 18 
main street and the other one where she is located in the park. She said she has paid her $100 19 
license fee and does not make a lot of money per day. She said she is only there two days. 20 
 21 
Mr. Drury said the city does not limit the vendors to six places only. He said there is a limit in the 22 
county courthouse area to four areas in order not to impede pedestrians. 23 
 24 
Council Discussion 25 
 26 
Councilmember Speaks said he sees two issues: licensed vendors and free enterprise and then 27 
the issue of unauthorized vendors coming in.  28 
 29 
Mr. Drury said the issue that he is hearing is not whether to enforce the ordinance; it is whether or 30 
not the Council wants to continue to allow vendors to compete with the restaurants. 31 
 32 
Councilmember Hope asked how the special events vendors affect the restaurants. Mr. Atkins 33 
said it has a tremendous impact. 34 
 35 
Vice Mayor Pfister 36 
 37 
Vice Mayor Pfister stated originally the restaurant owners agreed to the ordinance. She said she 38 
respects the entrepreneurial spirit of Ms. Berrios. However she said she had to support the 39 
business owners who pay taxes. 40 
 41 
Councilmember Smith said he had concern about the special events, noting that some of those 42 
events are dependent on the park and having vendors. Mr. Drury stated the ordinance can be 43 
crafted to reflect special events. 44 
 45 
MOTION 46 
 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 13 of 19 
 
  
 
Lori Pfister moved to do away with the street vendors (except for special event vendors), 1 
seconded by Kirby Smith. 2 
 3 
Mr. Drury said staff will bring back a revised ordinance with some options. 4 
 5 
Mr. Atkins suggested offering the restaurants right of first refusal for special events. 6 
 7 
Mr. Neron stated that in certain events, the event organizer controls the vendors. He said the City 8 
can encourage them to give a right of first refusal but it would be difficult to make it a mandate. 9 
 10 
Mr. Drury reiterated that staff can bring back some options on this issue. 11 
 12 
Ms. Berriors asked if the change in ordinance would be for the entire city. 13 
 14 
Mr. Drury noted the legislation for the revised ordinance will be brought back to City Council. 15 
Attorney Williams said the current ordinance is directed to the entertainment district. 16 
 17 
Ms. Berriors said she has paid for the license for an entire year. Attorney Williams stated the city 18 
also needs to look at all vendors who have been issued a license. 19 
 20 
The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 21 
 22 
Tab 14) Florida League of Cities – Legislative Policy Committees (Deferred from Previous 23 
Meeting) 24 
 25 
Mayor Wolfe reviewed the legislative committees and their upcoming meetings for 2014. The 26 
proposed representatives are: 27 
 28 
Finance, Taxation & Personnel – Lori Houghton 29 
Transportation & Intergovernmental Relations – Chris Thompson 30 
Urban Administration – Councilmember Hope 31 
 32 
Councilmember Speaks said he could volunteer for Growth Management although he will be 33 
away for some of the meetings. 34 
 35 
Mayor Wolfe said he had a request from Charlotte Hope to participate.  36 
 37 
 38 
Mr. Hayes agreed to participate on the Energy Committee and Councilmember Speaks 39 
agreed to participate on Economic Affairs. Mayor Wolfe asked if Mrs. Hope could be 40 
appointed to participate. Mr. Drury said it would need to be subject to the League’s 41 
approval. 42 
 43 
Council consensus to approve those mentioned to the legislative committees 44 
including Charlotte Hope subject to the League’s approval. 45 
 46 
Tab 15) Revised Facilities Agreement with Lake County School Board 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 14 of 19 
 
  
 
 1 
Ms. Rogers noted a previous facilities use agreement had been approved by Council. 2 
When that agreement was submitted to the School Board, they had additional revisions in 3 
addition to the changes made by Council. The revised agreement has been brought back 4 
to Council and the agenda summary has bulleted the changes made. 5 
 6 
Mayor Wolfe asked if the cost to construct a baseball and softball field for high school 7 
level players including lights, restrooms, concessions, etc. would be approximately 2.5 8 
million for both fields. Ms. Rogers concurred. Mayor Wolfe said he believed the city 9 
should reach an agreement with the School Board to build two fields off Woodlea. Ms. 10 
Rogers discussed grant applications. She said Mr. Aldrich applied for a Land and Water 11 
Conservation Grant for $200,000 and was awarded two years after the application (to go 12 
eventually towards lighting the fields). To build the field alone without lights and 13 
bathrooms is around $250,000. 14 
 15 
Councilmember Smith said he interpreted the revised agreement to state that the city 16 
would be required to pay $250.00 every time it had a baseball game or softball game. Ms. 17 
Rogers said the agreement states the facilities will be provided for free unless there is a 18 
cost above and beyond $250.00 to clean up the facility. Ms. Rogers said this agreement 19 
will be a master agreement for the School Board to utilize with other municipalities. 20 
 21 
Councilmember Smith said he was concerned about the language regarding a contractor 22 
noting the City might want to bring in a vendor to teach classes during its summer 23 
program.  24 
 25 
Attorney Williams summarized that he believed the agreement was stating that both 26 
entities would clean up their own facilities unless there was significant damage and then 27 
either entity would have the right to charge for clean up or repair. 28 
 29 
Councilmember Smith asked if Section 4 regarding the vendor issue should be a concern. 30 
Mr. Drury noted that section says “without first making an application.” He said he 31 
believed the intent is that if the city subcontracted out a service the city would first have to 32 
submit a separate facilities use application for that vendor. Attorney Williams concurred. It 33 
was noted that the agreement can be terminated within 15 days. 34 
 35 
MOTION 36 
 37 
Lori Pfister moved to approve the revised Interlocal Facilities Use Agreement with 38 
the School Board, seconded by Kirby Smith. The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 39 
 40 
Vice Mayor Pfister stated she would support Mayor Wolfe in his endeavor to 41 
communicate with the School Board regarding the future sports fields. 42 
 43 
Tab 16) Request to Approve Re-Authorization of Grant with the FDEP/TMDL 44 
Program to Utilize the Funds for Construction of the CRA Stormwater Pond 45 
 46 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 15 of 19 
 
  
 
Mr. Drury summarized that the City has received three grants [FDEP Agreement No. 1 
S5068 in the amount of $750,000 and two additional legislative appropriations totaling 2 
$1,500,000] that have already been approved and the purpose of this item is to combine 3 
all three state grants into one grant agreement for financial oversight. 4 
 5 
MOTION 6 
 7 
Kirby Smith moved to accept the new [combined] agreement from the FDEP for the 8 
stormwater improvements in the amount of $2,250,000 which will supersede the 9 
FDEP Grant No. S5068 and authorize the mayor to sign the new [combined] grant 10 
agreement, seconded by Lori Pfister. The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 11 
 12 
Tab 17) Reappointment to Lake Community Action Agency 13 
 14 
Mayor Wolfe stated he would like to re-appoint Steve Peuschel for another term to the 15 
Lake Community Action Agency. 16 
 17 
MOTION 18 
 19 
Lori Pfister moved to approve the Mayor’s appointment of Steve Peuschel to the 20 
Lake Community Agency, seconded by Robert Speaks.  21 
 22 
Mayor Wolfe noted that he has asked Mr. Peuschel to report on monies appropriated by 23 
this agency to serve the citizens of Tavares. 24 
 25 
The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 26 
 27 
Tab 18) Fiscal Year 2015 Budget Workshop 28 
 29 
Mr. Drury reported that pursuant to the previous workshops, the City now has a balance 30 
of $13,749,243 and a millage rate of 6.7299 which is .2768 above the current millage rate 31 
or slightly over a quarter of a mil. He said after all of the budget changes, that figure has 32 
come down so the figure is now .20 above the current millage rate, or below a quarter of a 33 
mil increase. He reviewed the outstanding issues: 34 
 35 

1. Health Insurance rate increases are firming up at 11.9% which is in-line with the estimated 36 
12% that is reflected in the proposed balanced budget. 37 

2. Councilmember Smith requested that the Finance Department revenue forecasting staff 38 
take another look at revenues based on the most current information available. Staff has 39 
and can cautiously support a slight increase in the following forecasted revenues for a 40 
total increase of $48,835: 41 

 Utility Taxes   42 
  Franchise Fees, 43 
  Zoning Fees 44 
 County ALS Payment 45 
 Police Fines 46 

 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 16 of 19 
 
  
 

This will result in a slight lowering of the millage rate increase of .0768. Instead of 1 
increasing by .2768 mils as noted above, it will only increase by .2000 mills. This equates 2 
to a millage rate of 6.6531 based on the changes during the past meetings. 3 

3. Both union contracts have been negotiated and are reflected in the budget. Contracts to 4 
be presented to Council in September as we await Police Union ratification. Fire Union 5 
has voted on the negotiated contract. 6 

4. The Warehouse Specialist position was flagged as an item needing further review by 7 
Council.  8 

5. The City Administrator has received the following requests from interested persons and 9 
provides the status of each one: 10 
 11 
A) A request to upgrade the main street streetscape west of the Court House so as to 12 

match the main street streetscape east of the Court House (see attached letter). 13 
Estimated cost is $200,000 and includes widening the sidewalks, adding brick paver 14 
crossings and irrigation and landscaping. This item is not funded. 15 

B) A request to fund the Mock Seaplane in the Fountain at the intersection of SR 441 and 16 
SR 19  to punctuate the arrival to “America’s Seaplane City” (continued 17 
implementation of the brand). This project is under design and expected to get its 18 
FDOT permit by October. The Florida Turnpike signage directing travelers to the 19 
Seaplane Base is 50% installed with completion estimated by December. The 20 
estimated cost to install the mock seaplane in the welcome lake is $185,000 if 21 
seaplane is donated. There are two years left before the permit sunsets this item is 22 
not funded.  23 

C) A request to fund the Tavares Way Finding program with signs along 441 directing 24 
people to the down town consistent with the Council adopted Way finding program. 25 
The city met with FDOT to have the wayfinding signs approved. Council has been 26 
provided with the list of signs and replacements costs. This item is not funded. 27 

D) A request to replace the “gateway signs” on 441 west bound at Waterman Hospital 28 
and 441 east bound at Welcome Park (441/19 Fountain) with the new “Welcome To 29 
Tavares, America’s Seaplane City per attached Way Finding plan that was adopted by 30 
the City Council. This item is not funded. 31 

E) A request to fund the Alfred Street/Caroline Street Streetscape, Public Furniture and 32 
Alleyways that abut these two streets. These items are not funded. 33 

F) Additional items that were requested/proposed but cut from the budget are 34 
enumerated on the “Deleted Items By Department and Fund sheet previously 35 
submitted to Council and attached to this Agenda Summary.   36 

 37 
Mayor Wolfe invited the public to speak. 38 
 39 
Denise Laratta, Royal Harbor 40 
 41 
Ms. Laratta said she was concerned about the list of operational equipment that had been 42 
deleted from the budget, in terms of maintenance costs for existing equipment and 43 
availability. She suggested purchasing the equipment and having departments share it. 44 
She expressed concern about the mention of the removal of the two signs identifying the 45 
Historical District. She commented about observing windmills in Scandinavia and 46 
Amsterdam and their significance in cutting down energy costs. In terms of the special 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 17 of 19 
 
  
 
requests, she said she believed Council should consider funding the gateway signs at 1 
Waterman and US 441 and the signs directing people to the downtown area. 2 
 3 
Lou Buigas 4 
  5 
Ms. Buigas said if certain areas in the downtown could be funded for wayfinding signs 6 
(such as St. Clair Abrams off US 441 and SR 19) that would be helpful to the businesses.  7 
 8 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION 9 
 10 
Vice Mayor Pfister stated that she supported putting all of the signage including the 11 
wayfinding signs back into the budget except for the Seaplane Sign. Mayor Wolfe asked 12 
for a cost on adding the signage back into the budget for a decision in September. 13 
Councilmember Smith asked for an incremental cost; i.e. the two large signs on the 14 
highway, etc. Councilmember Hope agreed and asked that the staff designate the most 15 
important to be replaced (i.e. the Florida Hospital sign). 16 
 17 
Councilmember Smith stated he had met with Ms. Houghton and staff regarding the 18 
warehouse position. He thanked Ms. Houghton for the meeting and information. He said 19 
after looking at the site and discussing with the employees, he recommended that the 20 
position be cut this year and reconsidered for next year. 21 
 22 
Councilmember Speaks said he agreed and to make it a priority next year. 23 
 24 
Councilmember Hope said he agreed to put it off until the funding could be justified which 25 
would demonstrate that the city is working on that goal. 26 
 27 
Mayor Wolfe spoke in support of funding the position in the upcoming budget. He said 28 
there are a lot of individuals putting in time after hours to assist in compliance. He said the 29 
position will not affect the water rate. Councilmember Pfister said she had missed her 30 
opportunity to visit the site and initially she did not think it was affordable, however, she 31 
said since she had had time to review the issue she had reconsidered it. She said if Ms. 32 
Houghton feels like it is needed, it should be included in the budget. 33 
 34 
Councilmember Smith requested a vote up or down at the next meeting. Mr. Drury said it 35 
is in the budget currently but staff will need direction. Mr. Drury said the mayor had 36 
recommended tabling the issue for one more meeting, however, Council could vote on it 37 
today or table it to the next meeting as recommended. Councilmember Pfister supported 38 
tabling the issue noting that she wished to trust the recommendations of the Department 39 
Heads. Mr. Drury added that he supports the position or it would not be in the budget. He 40 
said the City has had a clean record and a clean audit due to Ms. Houghton and her staff, 41 
and he wanted to see that continue. He explained how the staff is covering the turn ons 42 
and turn offs and that the staff from the Water Department supplements this task after 43 
hours when needed. This proposed position will be the backup for this function in addition 44 
to the warehouse function to alleviate that situation. 45 
 46 
Consensus to address the position at the next Council Meeting. 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 18 of 19 
 
  
 
 1 
Xl. OLD BUSINESS 2 
 3 
Councilmember Pfister asked Ms. Rogers for data on the senior meals program. She also asked 4 
if the senior dance will be starting up again at the civic center. 5 
 6 
Xll. NEW BUSINESS 7 
 8 
Mayor Wolfe asked if Council would approve his having discussions with the School Board 9 
regarding their financial assistance to the City of Tavares to expand Woodlea ballfields in turn for 10 
the value of Fred Stover Complex. He said Tavares High School is the only high school in the 11 
county that does not have its own fields. Councilmember Speaks asked if he was suggesting 12 
selling Fred Stover fields to the School Board. Mayor Wolfe said it needs to be what is best for 13 
the city. Mr. Drury said the city has a good relationship with the School Board and he believes the 14 
Mayor will have a good discussion with them. 15 
 16 
Consensus for the Mayor to pursue negotiations with the School Board. 17 
 18 
Xlll. AUDIENCE TO BE HEARD   19 
 20 
Denise Laratta – Royal Harbor 21 
 22 
Ms. Laratta said on the golf cart ordinance issue, she wanted Council to consider that there are 23 
people who do not have licenses not because they cannot drive, but because they cannot afford 24 
to own a car and the insurance. In addition, she said the ordinance should not be limited to just 25 
city and county roads; it should pertain to all streets in Tavares. 26 
 27 
Charlotte Hope  28 
 29 
Ms. Hope recommended that in considering the warehouse specialist position, the cost of the 30 
software needed to be included (if the city’s current software is not capable for inventory control), 31 
how often to the updates come out, and the cost of the updates. 32 
 33 
Ms. Houghton responded that the city’s system will handle the inventory minus one component. 34 
Mr. Drury said information will be provided as to the cost of the module. 35 
 36 
XlV. REPORTS 37 
 38 
Tab 14) City Administrator 39 
 40 
City Clerk 41 
 42 
Ms. Barnett reported that election qualifying was on August 15, 2014 at noon and the following 43 
candidates have qualified: 44 
 45 
Seat One – Lisa Johnson and Robert Wolfe 46 
 47 



Regular Council Meeting – August 20, 2014 
Page 19 of 19 
 
  
 
Seat Three – Bob Grenier and Norman C. Hope 1 
 2 
Seat Five – Dee Johns, Gerry Montalvo, and Lori Pfister 3 
 4 
Community Services Director 5 
 6 
Ms. Rogers stated 10 days from this day, the first wedding will be held at the pavilion. The move 7 
will begin on Thursday with a moving in party on Saturday. 8 
 9 
Finance Director 10 
 11 
Ms. Houghton thanked Council for their consideration and vote of confidence in the Finance 12 
Department. She said that staff has recently met to facilitate access to on line payment for 13 
customers renting the pavilion. 14 
 15 
Tab 15) City Council 16 
 17 
Vice Mayor Pfister 18 
Vice Mayor Pfister asked Mr. Hayes if he had observed her weather vane on the top of her 19 
building noting that even on the stillest of days the weather vane spins. 20 
 21 
Councilmember Hope 22 
Councilmember Hope said he had attended the League of Cities Annual Conference. The 23 
emphasis this year was on technology. He noted that the technology committee had discussed 24 
cell phones, GPS, drones, and text messages. 25 
  26 
Councilmember Smith 27 
Councilmember Smith asked for the date of the Close Your Eyes event. 28 
 29 
Councilmember Smith asked about non-profits using the pavilion; he said he had been asked if it 30 
could be used for free. He recommended they contact Ms. Rogers. 31 
 32 
Councilmember Smith noted that in 1741 Alaska was discovered by the Danish Explorer, Vitus 33 
Bering, hence the origin for the name of the Bering Sea.  34 
 35 
Mayor Wolfe 36 
Mayor Wolfe said he had taken his son to attend school in Iowa this past week and he did notice 37 
windmills and a large solar farm in the Midwest. 38 
 39 
Adjournment 40 
There was no further business and the meeting was adjourned at 7:20 p.m. 41 
 42 
Respectfully submitted, 43 
 44 
 45 
Nancy A. Barnett, C.M.C. 46 
City Clerk 47 


